ALASKA STATE LEG SLATURE
HOUSE SPECI AL COVWM TTEE ON M LI TARY AND VETERANS' AFFAI RS
March 15, 2016
1:35 p.m

VEMBERS PRESENT

Representative Bob Herron, Chair
Representative Gabrielle LeDoux, Vice Chair
Representati ve Shel |l ey Hughes
Representative Bob Lynn

Representative |Ivy Spohnhol z
Representative Chris Tuck

VEVBERS ABSENT
Representative Ji m Col ver
COW TTEE CALENDAR

HOUSE CONCURRENT RESOLUTI ON NO. 25
Designating June 27, 2016, as Post-Traumatic Stress Injury
Awar eness Day.

- HEARD & HELD

HOUSE JO NT RESOLUTI ON NO. 30

Uging the Anmerican Psychiatric Association to change the term
"post-traumatic stress disorder” or "PTSD' to "post-traunmatic
stress injury" or "PTSI"; and urging the governor to support
usage of the term"post-traumatic stress injury."”

- HEARD & HELD
PREVI QUS COW TTEE ACTI ON
BILL: HCR 25

SHORT TITLE: POST- TRAUMATI C STRESS | NJURY DAY
SPONSOR(s) : REPRESENTATI VE(s) TUCK

02/ 17/ 16 (H) READ THE FI RST TI ME - REFERRALS
02/ 17/ 16 (H) MV, STA
03/ 15/ 16 (H) M.V AT 1:00 PM GRUENBERG 120

Bl LL: HJR 30
SHORT TITLE: POST- TRAUMATI C STRESS | NJURY
SPONSOR('s): REPRESENTATI VE(s) HERRON

HOUSE MLV COW TTEE -1- March 15, 2016



02/ 19/ 16 (H) READ THE FIRST TIME - REFERRALS
02/ 19/ 16 (H) MV, STA
03/ 15/ 16 (H) MLV AT 1: 00 PM GRUENBERG 120

W TNESS REG STER

KENDRA KLOSTER, St aff

Representative Chris Tuck

Al aska State Legislature

Juneau, Al aska

POSI TI ON STATEMENT: Present ed HCR 25 on behal f of
Representative Tuck, prine sponsor.

REPRESENTATI VE CHRI S TUCK

Al aska State Legislature

Juneau, Al aska

PCSI TI ON STATEMENT: Presented HCR 25, as prinme sponsor.

ROB EARL, Staff

Representati ve Bob Herron

Al aska State Legislature

Juneau, Al aska

PCSI TI ON  STATEMENT: Present ed HIR 30 on behal f of
Representative Herron, prine sponsor.

KENT HALL, Vice President

Honor for ALL

Wl Ilianston, M chigan

POSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified in support of HCR 25 and HIR 30.

ROBERT DCEHL, Deputy Conmm ssi oner

O fice of the Conm ssioner/Adj utant Ceneral

Department of Mlitary & Veterans’ Affairs (DWA)

Joi nt Base El nendorf-Ri chardson (JBER)

POSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified in support of HCR 25 and HIR 30.

FORREST POWELL, Program Coordi nator |

Ofice of Veteran Affairs (OVA)

Departnment of Mlitary & Veterans’ Affairs (DWA)
Anchor age, Al aska

PCSI TI ON STATEMENT:  Answer ed questions on HCR 25.

JEFF SLAI KEU, O fice Manager

Ofice of Veteran Affairs (OVA)

Departnment of Mlitary & Veterans’ Affairs (DWA)
Anchor age, Al aska

HOUSE MLV COW TTEE - 2- March 15, 2016



PCSI TI ON STATEMENT:  Answer ed questions on HCR 25.
ACTI ON NARRATI VE
1:35: 23 PM

CHAI R BOB HERRON cal l ed the House Special Commttee on Mlitary
and Veterans' Affairs nmeeting to order at 1:35 p.m
Representati ves LeDoux, Tuck, Lynn, Spohnholz, and Herron were
present at the call to order. Representative Hughes arrived as
the nmeeting was in progress.

HCR 25- POST- TRAUVATI C STRESS | NJURY DAY
HIJR 30- POST- TRAUVATI C STRESS | NJURY

1: 36: 29 PM

CHAI R HERRON announced that the only order of business would be
HOUSE CONCURRENT RESOLUTION NO. 25, Designating June 27, 2016,
as Post-Traumatic Stress Injury Awareness Day; and

HOUSE JO NT RESOLUTION NO 30, Urging the American Psychiatric
Association to change the term "post-traumatic stress disorder”
or "PTSD' to "post-traumatic stress injury" or "PTSI"; and
urging the governor to support usage of the term "post-traumatic
stress injury.”

1: 37: 14 PM

KENDRA KLOSTER, Staff, Representative Chris Tuck, Alaska State
Legi slature, presented HCR 25 on behalf of Representative Tuck,
prime sponsor. She stated that HCR 25 would establish June 27,
2016, as Post-Traumatic Stress Injury (PTSI) Awareness Day. She
added that HCR 25 would also encourage the term nology change
from "post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD)" to "post-traumatic
stress injury." M. Kloster said that she has been working with
the nonprofit organization, Honor for ALL, whose goal is for
simlar legislation to be passed in all 50 states. She
mai ntai ned that already eight states have passed |egislation
pronoting PTSI awareness, as well as, the US  House of
Representatives and the U S. Senate.

M5. KLOSTER explained that the word "disorder” frequently
portrays a negative inmage with associated stigma, and that the
word "injury" is a better descriptor. Ms. Kloster stated that
260 mllion people suffer from PTSI worldw de and, in the United
States, about 3.5 percent of adults are being diagnosed wth
PTSI in any given year. She added that the incidence of

HOUSE MLV COW TTEE - 3- March 15, 2016



mlitary related PTSI is on the rise, but conceded that the
increase may be due partly to increased awareness and better
det ecti on. She noted a Veterans Adm nistration (VA) assessnent
reported that the VA was only reaching about 20 percent of
people with mlitary related PTSI. Ms. Kloster attested that
establishing a day for PTSI would increase awareness of PTSI and
educate the public about detecting the signs of PTSI and
connecting with services.

1:39:59 PM

REPRESENTATIVE CHRIS TUCK, Alaska State Legislature, presented
HCR 25, as prine sponsor. He said that nost famlies have been
affected by PTSI. He related his personal experience with his

brot her, who served in the U S. Navy, and now suffers from PTSI
He contended that his brother was born a normal child and raised
normally, and he expressed his belief that calling PTSI a
di sorder does a disservice to great nmen and wonmen who served
their country and to others suffering from PTSI.

REPRESENTATI VE TUCK reiterated that an awareness day for PTSI is
a first step in educating the public on the issue and connecting
people wth services. He noted recent information asserting
that children with adverse chil dhood experiences can suffer from
PTSI .

1: 41: 52 PM

REPRESENTATI VE HUGHES asked if there is anything significant
about the designated date in the proposed concurrent resolution,
and if the designation would be for just one year.

M5. KLOSTER responded that June 27 was chosen for Al aska because
it is the day naned in legislation passed by the eight states,
the U S. House of Representatives, and the U S. Senate. She
added that this year the day would be nanmed by concurrent
resolution, and the sponsor would decide Ilater whether to
i ntroduce legislation making it an annual recognition.

1:43:15 PM
REPRESENTATI VE HUGHES asked if the sponsor envisioned any
special activities associated with the day besides a press

r el ease.

M5. KLOSTER responded that retired Colonel Bob Doehl, Deputy
Conmi ssioner of the Departnment of Mlitary & Veterans’ Affairs

HOUSE MLV COW TTEE -4- March 15, 2016



(DWA), is online to testify and can better answer that
guesti on. She also nentioned a letter of support from the
comm ssioner of DWA, retired Colonel Laurel Hunmel, included in
the comm ttee packet.

1:44: 24 PM

REPRESENTATI VE LEDOUX asked how many Al askans currently suffer
from PTSI .

M5. KLOSTER al so deferred that question to Col onel Doehl .

REPRESENTATI VE LEDOUX asked if M. Kl oster knew what type of
services are currently provided to those suffering from PTSI.

M5. KLOSTER responded that service nenbers are tested for PTSI
during debriefing and that there are a nunber of services,
including therapeutic, that <can be accessed through the
[ Federal] Veterans Health Adm nistration (VHA). She added t hat
DWA al so hel ps people with PTSI to connect with services.

1:46: 49 PM
CHAI R HERRON advi sed that Rob Earl will present HIR 30, and both
resolutions will be in front of the commttee when asking for
t esti nony.
1: 47: 09 PM

ROB EARL, Staff, Representative Bob Herron, Alaska State
Legi slature, presented HIR 30 on behalf of Representative
Herron, prime sponsor. He suggested that given the |arge nunber
of veterans and the high rates of child abuse and donestic and
sexual violence in Al aska, the nunber of people suffering from
post-traumatic stress injury (PTSI) is easily in the thousands.
M. Earl echoed the remark made previously by M. Kloster that
the word "disorder” carries a stigm and is considered degrading
by many who suffer from PTSI. He added that referring to the
condition as a disorder suggests that it is untreatable but, in
fact, it is a treatable injury. He also stated that
historically the condition has been viewed as a nental illness
caused by a pre-existing flaw He added that replacing
"disorder”™ with "injury" would nmake it clear that this is not
the case. M. Earl said that the stigma of the word "disorder”
di scourages sone sufferers from seeking treatnent. He added
that tinmely treatment is critical, especially considering the
hi gh rate of suicide associated with PTSI.

HOUSE MLV COW TTEE - 5- March 15, 2016



MR. EARL paraphrased the |ast paragraph of the sponsor statenent
for HIR 30, which read as follows [original punctuati on
provi ded] :

HIR 30 specifically resolves that the Alaska State
Legi sl ature:

* Believes that the term "post-traumatic stress
di sorder” be universally changed to "post-
traumatic stress injury"”

* Uges the Anerican Psychiatric Association to
consi der changing the term "post-traumatic stress
disorder” to "post-traumatic stress injury" for
the next revision of t he Di agnostic and
Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders

* Urges the Governor to support the usage of the
term "post-traumatic stress injury"”

MR. EARL nentioned the letter of support from the nonprofit
organi zation, Honor for ALL, the letter of support from DVMA,
and the two zero fiscal notes, included in the conmttee packet.
1:50: 05 PM

REPRESENTATI VE HERRON stated that he introduced the joint
resolution due to his personal experience with people having

post-traumati c stress. He referred to the double nurder at
Bet hel Hi gh School in 1997 causing post-traumatic stress in
peopl e who had w tnessed the incident. He opined that although
they were not harned physically, they were still harned.

Representative Herron referred to Socrates and the Shakespeare
pl ay, Macbeth, to make the point that post-traumatic stress has
been in existence all through history. He reiterated M. Earl's

claim that "disorder” connotes weakness and Representative
Tuck's claim that continued use of the word "disorder" is a
di sservice to the individual, the famly, the comunity, and
society as a whole. Representative Herron conceded that the

effort to change the |abel may be difficult and take time, but
expressed his belief that the awareness pronoted under HCR 25
and HIR 30 woul d be very inportant.

1:52: 50 PM

REPRESENTATI VE HUGHES asked if other states have passed
resolutions simlar to HIR 30.

HOUSE MLV COW TTEE - 6- March 15, 2016



CHAI R HERRON responded in the affirmative.

REPRESENTATI VE HUGHES asked if PTSD is referred to in Al aska
statutes and, if the joint resolution passed, would require
anmendi ng.

CHAI R HERRON responded that change would take a long tine. He

noted that currently the word "disorder” is referenced
t hroughout the Departnent of Health and Social Services (DHSS)
regul ations and information. He reiterated that "this will be a

long journey” and expressed his hope that society would
recogni ze post-traumatic stress as an injury and not a condition
from birth.

REPRESENTATI VE HUGHES of fered her support for the proposed joint
resolution and agreed that the term "di sorder” does not inply an
event as the cause as does the term"injury."

1:54:56 PM

REPRESENTATI VE LEDOUX stated that she does not see a pejorative
associated with the term "disorder.” She did express, however
that she supports using the term nology preferred by those who
are affected. She asked if anyone from the psychiatric
profession could testify as to the difference between the two
terns.

CHAI R HERRON responded that it is his intention to have such
testinmony put into the record. He conceded that there are those
on either side of the issue.

1: 57:16 PM

REPRESENTATI VE SPOHNHOLZ said that she supports the proposed
joint resolution and related that she adopted a child who
suffers from PTSI. She added that this resolution would be
inmportant for nilitary service nenbers with PTSI who express
concern for the term "disorder." She stated that she agrees
with the suggestion of securing a psychiatric opinion. She
offered that brain science indicates that the brain is a
growi ng, changing organ, and injury to the brain is treatable
and recover abl e.

1:59:11 PM

REPRESENTATI VE TUCK stated that the dictionary definition of
di sorder is "an abnormal physical or nental condition." He

HOUSE MLV COW TTEE -7- March 15, 2016



mai ntained that the definition inplies a condition from birth
and that "injury” inplies an event that happens to soneone. He
further claimed that a |abel does have an inpact and the
proposed resol ution would stinul ate di scussi on about PTSI.

2:01: 04 PM

CHAI R HERRON relayed that at the Chris Kyle Patriots Hospital's
grand opening in Anchorage, he |earned that Al askans who have
gone to that hospital have experienced renmarkabl e success. He
stated that changing the | abel is about striving for awareness.

REPRESENTATI VE HUGHES stated that she wanted to know from a
psychiatrist's perspective if a disorder is considered to be an
ongoi ng condition to be managed rather than something from which
one could recover. She added that if that were true, then
term nol ogy woul d i npact the treatnent approach to PTSI.

2: 03: 45 PM

REPRESENTATI VE LEDOUX asked whether there were inplications for
medi cal 1nsurance or workers' conpensation insurance associated
with treating PTSI as a recoverable injury.

REPRESENTATI VE TUCK rem nded the commttee that not all injuries
are recoverable but that tinely services are inportant.

KENT HALL, Vice President, Honor for ALL, relayed that he is a
Vi et nam conbat veteran who has been diagnosed by the Veterans
Adm nistration (VA) as having post-traumatic stress disorder

(PTSD) . He said that in 2010 he saw a video by a renowned
psychiatrist, Dr. Frank Ochberg, describing PTSD as a wound, not
a weakness. M. Hall enphasized the inportance of that

recognition for him in that he stopped blamng hinmself and
started looking for a solution to his problem He said that
since then he has becone involved in Honor for ALL, a national,

nonprofit organization based in M chigan. He went on to say
that he speaks publically on the issue and travels widely to
events and rallies. He added that M chigan becane the first
state to pass a PTSI Awareness Day. He claimed that |ast year

ei ght states passed resolutions recognizing PTSI, and this year
seven nore states did the sane.

MR. HALL referred to his own experience wwth PTSD and PTSI and
affirmed the positive changes in his life since receiving help
from the VA He expressed significant benefits from his
participation in Vietnam veteran group therapy sessions

HOUSE MLV COW TTEE - 8- March 15, 2016



sponsored by the VA and | ead by a psychologist. He clained that
a strong, proud soldier does not want to have a nental disorder,
yet knows that it is alright to seek help for an injury. He
relayed that Dr. Cchberg participated in the team that defined
PTSD [in the third edition of D agnostic and Statistical Manual
of Mental Disorders (DSM] in 1980, but now |anents the use of
the word "disorder,” understanding that it has contributed to
the stigma that prevents veterans from reaching out for help.
M. Hall stated that there is no difference between PTSD and
PTSI as far as diagnosis or benefits, but said he believes the
use of the term PTSI nakes a difference to veterans faced wth
i ssues and needi ng hel p.

MR. HALL explained that the date for the awareness day, June 27,
was inspired by the birthday of North Dakota National Guard
Staff Sergeant Joe Biel, who suffered from PTSD after two tours
in lrag and took his own life on April 26, 2007. He added that
former U S. Senator Kent Conrad of North Dakota initiated PTSD
awar eness day.

2:12: 04 PM

CHAI R HERRON asked M. Hall about the resistance to the change
in termnology fromPTSD to PTSI.

MR. HALL responded by saying that even renowned psychiatrists
di sagree regardi ng the change.

CHAIR HERRON stated his intent to have Dr. Cchberg testify at
t he second hearing on HIR 30.

2:14:51 PM
ROBERT DOEHL, Deputy Comm ssi oner, Ofice of t he
Comm ssi oner/ Adj ut ant Ceneral , Depart ment of Mlitary &

Vet er ans’ Affairs (DWA), Joi nt Base El nendorf-R chardson
(JBER), testified that DWA strongly supports both HCR 25 and
HIR 30 to better address a condition that affects at |east 30
percent of Alaska's 57,000 conbat service veterans and those
still serving. He stated that about 18,000 veterans in Al aska
suffer from PTSD. He clainmed that PTSD does not always affect
just an individual, but often takes its toll on famly, friends,
and co-workers. He attested that he has had experience wth
people suffering from PTSD his whole career - in the mlitary,
with the Departnment of Justice, and with the Ofice of the
Attorney GCeneral. He described the many consequences of PTSD,
including loss of job, loss of famly, and suicide. He clained

HOUSE MLV COW TTEE -9- March 15, 2016



that the term "disorder"” exacerbates a stigma that discourages
treatment anong those who struggle with the condition. He
mai ntai ned that PTSD is not a disorder in an individual but the
natural response to an unnatural situation or event that has
been externally inposed upon that individual.

2:19:12 PM

COLONEL DOEHL stated that after neeting with partner agencies

he believes that together they would be able to plan awareness
day activities that would attract nmedia attention. He also said
that he sees the awareness day as a springboard for connecting
PTSD sufferers with treatnent and services. He nmai ntai ned that
any contact with the Veterans Health Admnistration (VHA) or
Veterans Benefit Administration (VBA) provides a veteran wth
information on PTSI and available services. Col onel  Doeh

relayed that assistance is also available through DWA and
through vet centers located in some of the larger cities in
Al aska. He clained that peer groups are phenonenal assistance
devices for veterans. He related a VA claimthat for a veteran
who requests assistance for an acute PTSD related concern, the
response tine for contact with a qualified provider is |ess than
twenty-four hours.

COLONEL DOEHL relayed that he is not aware of any changes that
would be needed in DWA statutes or regulations due to the
change in termnology proposed by HIR 30 but surm sed that
statutes in other state departnents may require changes.

2:21:42 PM

REPRESENTATI VE LEDOUX asked if famly, friends, and co-workers
can be inpacted by sonmeone with PTSI to the extent that they in
turn suffer fromPTSI as a result.

COLONEL DOEHL answered that in order to have PTSI, one nust have

suffered an injury-causing event. He stated his belief that if
the PTSI manifested itself by violence, then there could be a
second direct effect of PTSI on soneone else. He added that

from his experience review ng several hundred depositions, there
are other diagnoses appropriate for spouses living with sonmeone
with PTSI.

CHAIR HERRON nentioned an incident in which the National
Veterans of Foreign Wars (VFW commander, speaking at a
congressional hearing, reacted very negatively to the idea of
replacing "PTSD' with "PTSI." Chair Herron said that after the

HOUSE MLV COW TTEE -10- March 15, 2016



hearing, many veterans came up to congressnen to offer their
support for the change. Representative Herron asked Col onel
Doehl how this controversy can be addressed.

2:25: 07 PM

COLONEL DOEHL opined that nental health injuries have been
difficult to recognize as not being a weakness or fault. He
suggested that nore education is needed to understand the injury
conponent, not just for those suffering from PTSI, but for the
br oader popul ati on. He clained that one source of confusion is
related to the fact that only 30 percent of conbat veterans
report PTSD, but 100 percent of people who are shot report a
bl eeding wound, which results in being awarded with a Purple
Heart . He reiterated that defining post-traumatic stress as an
injury and designating the awareness day would greatly advance
t he know edge and di scussi on needed.

2:26: 38 PM

REPRESENTATI VE LEDOUX said that she was curious about the
controversy, and she asked what the rationale was for resisting
t he change in term nol ogy.

COLONEL DOEHL deferred to the Anerican Psychiatric Association
(APA) for its position regarding "disorder"” versus "injury." He
stated his belief that the broader population has difficulty
adjusting to change and struggles with recognition of sonething
they can't see. He rem nded the commttee of the great strides
made in recogni zing and understandi ng PTSI since 1970 and opi ned
that with greater awareness and education, the public's ability
to visualize and accept PTSI w Il increase.

2:29: 00 PM

REPRESENTATI VE HUGHES asked Col onel Doehl to review again the
nunber of veterans and active duty mlitary personnel estimted
to have PTSI

COLONEL DCOEHL stated that the Alaska VA Healthcare System
reports 57,000 conbat veterans in Al aska, and 30 percent of them
are being treated for PTSD. He said that there are about 30,000
active duty mlitary personnel, but not all of them have been in
conbat. He gave an estimate of about 8,000 active duty mlitary
personnel in Alaska suffering from PTSI, based on an estimted
20, 000 who have been in conbat.

HOUSE MLV COW TTEE -11- March 15, 2016



2:30:43 PM

REPRESENTATI VE HUGHES asked what activities Col onel Doehl
envi sioned besides a nedia canpaign for the PTSI Awareness Day
under the proposed concurrent resolution. She questioned if
there would be events nmaking services nore available or any
plans to coordinate with the U S. Arnmy or US. Air Force |ocated
in Al aska.

COLONEL DCEHL stated that the DWA envisions creating events by
heavily | everaging federal resources through the VA and the vet
centers with a focus on providing services. He said that the
active duty mlitary personnel would be invited to participate.

2:33:11 PM

FORREST POVWELL, Program Coordinator |, Ofice of Veteran Affairs
(OVA), Departnment of Mlitary & Veterans’ Affairs (DWA), said
that he represents the interests of the Ofice of Veteran
Affairs in regard to the PTSI Awareness Day proposed under HCR
25 and agreed with Col onel Doehl's answers to the questions. He
stated that he is a veteran with PTSD.

CHAI R HERRON asked M. Powell for his thoughts regarding the
change in term nol ogy, fromPTSD to PTSI.

MR. PONELL replied that his concern was for his own behavior and
controlling it, and added that he did not feel that the
awareness activities and termnology change would neke a
difference for him

JEFF SLAIKEU, O fice Manager, Ofice of Veteran Affairs (OVA),
Departnment of Mlitary & Veterans’ Affairs (DWA), offered his
agreenent with M. Powell's testinony.

2:37: 03 PM

CHAI R HERRON said he would invite Dr. Cchberg and retired U S.
CGeneral Peter Chiarelli to testify at the next hearing on the
proposed joint resolution.

REPRESENTATI VE LEDOUX requested that a representative from
either the Anerican Psychiatric Association or the Al aska
Psychiatric Association be invited to the next hearing to
testify on the rationale for not making the term nol ogy change.

HOUSE MLV COW TTEE -12- March 15, 2016



CHAI R HERRON responded that he would | ocate a representative who
coul d speak to Representative LeDoux's concern

[ HCR 25 and HIR 30 were hel d over.]

2:38: 34 PM

ADJ QURNIVENT

There being no further business before the commttee, the House

Special Committee on MIlitary and Veterans' Affairs neeting was
adj ourned at 2:39 p.m

HOUSE MLV COW TTEE -13- March 15, 2016



